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I. General Information 
 
 

Location:    300 Clarke Avenue 
    Palm Beach, Florida 

 
     Date of Construction:  1936 
 
     First Owner:   Robert Butt and Thelma Von Eye Butt 
 

Architect:  John L. Volk 
 
     Builder/Contractor:  Arnold Construction Co. 
 

Present Owner:   Desmond J. Heathwood and Dorothy Ann 
Heathwood 

 
     Present Use:   Residential 
 
     Present Zoning:   R-B    
 
     Palm Beach County 
     Tax Folio Number:  50-43-43-22-04-000-0670  
 

Current Legal Description: Lots 67 and 68 of Primavera Estates (Middle 
Section), according to the Plat thereof as 
recorded in Plat Book 7, Page 39, of the 
Public Records of Palm Beach County, 
Florida.  
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II. Location Map 
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III. Architectural Information 
 
300 Clarke Avenue is located on the south side of Clarke Avenue between 
Cocoanut Row and South County Road in the middle section of the 
Primavera Estates subdivision.  The residence and accessory structure were 
designed by John Volk in the Mediterranean Revival style in 1936 and 
constructed by Arnold Construction Company for a cost of $40,000.1  The 
residence is a very good representation of the Mediterranean Revival style of 
architecture as it was being constructed in Palm Beach during the late 
Depression/New Deal Era of the mid-1930s.   

 
The Mediterranean Revival style is an eclectic style incorporating 
architectural elements derived from the area around the Mediterranean Sea, 
especially Italy and Spain.  The style is found most frequently in states that 
have a Spanish Colonial heritage, but its use gained national popularity after 
the Pan-American Exhibition held in San Diego in 1915.  In Palm Beach, the 
style was first popularized in 1919 by Addison Mizner’s design for the 
Everglades Club. The popularity of the style soared in the 1920s for both 
commercial and residential buildings.  The style remained a pervasive 
influence on building design until World War II.  Buildings of this style are 
often decorated with ornate cast-stone columns, pilasters and window 
surrounds.  Arched openings, tower features, balconies, asymmetrical 
massing and windows of varying sizes and shapes are also common features.  
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  file	
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  the	
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  of	
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  was	
  dated	
  June	
  8,	
  1936.	
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In addition, stone or stucco facades, decorative wrought ironwork, tile 
floors, pecky cypress ceilings and clay barrel tile roofs are typical features of 
Mediterranean Revival style buildings. 
 
300 Clarke Avenue is a two-story residence that was constructed of wood 
frame and concrete block surfaced with stucco.  The roofing is comprised of 
intersecting barrel tile hip roofs with exposed rafter tails.  The residence was 
originally constructed in a L-shaped plan with a two-story, three-car garage 
apartment building to the rear.  The garage is accessed from the alley behind 
the property.  A two-story addition was constructed in 2007-2008 and 
connects the house to the garage apartment structure.  A one-story accessory 
structure was constructed at the southwest corner of the property in 1940.  

 
The main façade of the elegant residence features an asymmetrical design 
with the main entrance located slightly off-center.  The entrance, which was 
redesigned in 2007-2008, features a cast stone arched door surround 
sheltered by a balcony supported by square columns.  A pair of French doors 
on the second floor provides access to the balcony.  Flanking the entrance 
and the balcony above are single sash windows with decorative metal grills.  
To the east of the entrance are three sets of French doors with arched 
transoms and stucco surrounds, and to the west of the entrance is another 
French door with an arched transom and surround.  A stringcourse highlights 
the second floor, which features casement windows with shutters, and a 
chimney is located on the east facade of the residence.  
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Main Façade by John Volk, 1936 
 
Early alterations and additions to the exterior include a porch addition to the 
garage apartment in 1948, an addition to the one-story accessory structure in 
1963, and construction of a swimming pool in 1975.  In 1989, a renovation 
to the residence added a loggia on the west façade, a bay window to the east 
façade (which was later removed), and a third set of French doors with an 
arched transom was added on the east end of the main façade, where there 
had been a blind arch.  In 2007-2008, the residence was renovated with a 
design by Bridges, Marsh and Associates.  This renovation included a two-
story addition on the rear of the residence that connected the main house to 
the garage apartment and the redesign of the entrance.  In addition to these 
changes, other alterations over the years include replacing windows, re-
roofing, and ordinary repairs and maintenance. 2   The alterations and 
additions to the exterior of the residence have not had a negative 
architectural impact on the residence’s architectural integrity and the 
residence continues to reflect Volk’s original restrained Mediterranean 
Revival design. 
 
IV. Historical Information 
 
The residence at 300 Clarke Avenue was built during the late 
Depression/New Deal Era of the mid-1930s.  The 1930s was a period of 
transition in the Town of Palm Beach.  The building boom of the 1920s had 
ended and the Island was experiencing a period of economic instability, 
including a building slowdown that lasted until after World War II.  The 
architecture in Palm Beach was also transitioning during the 1930s and less 
	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
   	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
2	
  Town	
  of	
  Palm	
  Beach	
  Building	
  Permit	
  Records,	
  1936-­‐2020.	
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elaborate styles of architecture were being explored.   A November 22, 1936 
Palm Beach Post article described these changing times in Palm Beach, 
“Majority of homes now being erected are of moderate sized type; 
showplaces are now things of former years.”  
 
300 Clarke Avenue was constructed in Primavera Estates, a subdivision 
developed by Louis Clarke.  Louis Clarke was the son of Charles J. Clarke, 
an early Palm Beach pioneer.   The origins of Clarke Avenue and the 
Primavera Estates subdivision go back to 1880, when E. N. “Cap” Dimick, 
Palm Beach’s first mayor, built his home on Lake Trail at the west end of 
what is now Clarke Avenue.  The home was named “Cocoanut Grove” and 
became the first hotel in the area, Cocoanut Grove House.  In 1891, Charles 
Clarke purchased the Cocoanut Grove along with sixty acres of property that 
ran from the ocean to the lake.3   A fire destroyed the Cocoanut Grove 
House in 1893, after which Charles Clarke built his home on the site, which 
he named “Primavera”.  Louis Clark developed the Primavera Estates 
subdivision in 1917 and many of the lots in the subdivision were sold from 
1918 through 1923.4 
 
300 Clarke Avenue was designed by John Volk and built in 1936 by Arnold 
Construction Company for Mr. and Mrs. Robert Butt of New London, 
Connecticut.  Robert Butt started visiting Palm Beach in the early 1900s 
with his mother.  In 1933, he and his wife Thelma Von Eye Butt began to 
spend the winter season in Palm Beach at a house on the Lake Trail and later 
at the Brazilian Court Hotel until they built the residence at 300 Clarke 
Avenue.  The Butt’s continued to use the house as a seasonal residence until 
1948 when they became permanent residents of Palm Beach.  Robert Butt 
was an investment banker and active sportsman and Thelma Butt was a 
lyricist.  They were active members of Bethesda-by-the-Sea, the Bath and 
Tennis Club, Everglades Club and Seaspray Club and often hosted parties at 
their Clarke Avenue home.  The Butt’s reportedly shipped a fireplace that 
had once belonged to Napoleon to be located in the home’s living room.5  
 
There have only been five owners of the residence since its construction in 
1936.  The Butt’s owned the property for 35 years and subsequent owners 
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  “Clarke	
  Avenue	
  2002	
  Annual	
  Walking	
  Tour,	
  ”	
  Preservation	
  Foundation	
  of	
  Palm	
  Beach	
  7	
  February	
  
2002.	
  
4	
  “All	
  Quiet	
  on	
  Clarke	
  Avenue	
  Beach,”	
  Palm	
  Beach	
  Daily	
  News	
  25	
  September	
  1985.	
  
	
  	
  	
  “Primavera	
  Estates,”	
  Palm	
  Beach	
  Post	
  22	
  December	
  1918.	
  
	
  	
  	
  “Primavera,	
  Palm	
  Beach	
  Auction	
  Lot	
  Sale,”	
  Palm	
  Beach	
  Daily	
  News	
  18	
  February	
  1923.	
  
5	
  Palm	
  Beach	
  Post,	
  26	
  February	
  1981,	
  page	
  21.	
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included Mr. Anthony Boalt, Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Ryerson, Mr. and Mrs. 
Blaine Fogg, and the current owners Mr. and Mrs. Desmond Heathwood.  
The Heathwood’s purchased the residence in 2007 and have been excellent 
stewards of the property.  
 
V. Architect/Builder Biography 
 
John L. Volk 
 
John Volk has been called the last of the "original" Palm Beach architects. 
He was one of an elite group of early 1920s architects that included Addison 
Mizner, Maurice Fatio, and Marion Sims Wyeth who developed the 
architectural style of the island that came to be known as the "Palm Beach 
Style".  
  
Volk was born in Graz, Austria in 1901.  He came to the United States with 
his parents at the age of nine and grew up in New York.  He attended 
Columbia University School of Architecture and L’Ecole des Beaux Arts.  
Volk opened his office in Palm Beach in 1925. 
 
Volk designed more than 1000 houses, theaters, clubs, shops, and other 
buildings and lived in Palm Beach from 1925 to his death in 1984.  He 
designed homes for some of the wealthiest and most powerful people in 
America over his 58-year career in Palm Beach including Colonel Robert 
McCormack, William Paley, George Vanderbilt, Nicholas DuPont, Henry 
Ford II, Herbert Pulitzer, Matthew Mellon, George Storer, Horace Dodge II, 
and John S. Phipps.  Included in the designs of John Volk are some of the 
most prominent commercial and private club buildings in the Palm Beach 
area including the First National Bank, the Royal Poinciana Plaza and 
Playhouse, the center section of the Town Hall, the Beach Club, Good 
Samaritan Hospital, and several shops on Worth Avenue including the 
Everglades Colonnade.  He also extensively modified and rebuilt the Bath 
and Tennis Club after a major hurricane. 
 
Numerous other buildings are the result of Mr. Volk's labor and it must be 
noted that no particular style can be exclusively associated with Mr. Volk.  
Unlike other talented architects who developed or refined specific styles, 
John Volk understood and perfected many varying architectural styles from 
Mediterranean Revival to Contemporary Design. 
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Arnold Construction Company 
 
The Arnold Construction Company, headed by James Y. and W. H. Arnold, 
was a leading construction company in Palm Beach from the 1920s through 
the 1970s.  The Arnolds arrived in Palm Beach in 1925 during the Florida 
land and building boom.  In addition to building countless houses of varying 
sizes and styles, they also constructed hospitals, churches, apartment 
buildings, country clubs and other commercial buildings throughout Florida. 
In Palm Beach, Arnold Construction Company worked with all of the 
prominent architects and built a number of the early grand estates and 
significant mid-town houses.  
 
A few of the grand estates and significant in-town houses built by Arnold 
Construction Company include The Kennedy Estate on North Ocean 
Boulevard, E.Z. Nutting House Nuestro Paridiso on South Ocean Boulevard 
(Julius Jacobs), the Moffett House on South Ocean Boulevard (John Volk), 
the Charles Manning House on Clarke Avenue (Howard Major), the John 
Rutherford House on North Lake Trail (Treanor & Fatio), the Ernest Howe 
Residence on Clarke Avenue (Howard Major), and many others. They also 
built the esteemed St. Edwards Church and Rectory just north of the Town’s 
original main street on North County Road. The company’s files were lost in 
a fire so there is no complete record of their projects.  These projects were 
noted in newspaper articles in files at the Historical Society of Palm Beach 
County and in the Palm Beach Post online archives.   
 
In the 1930s, Arnold Construction Company formed Palm Beach Modern 
Homes as their chief development company.  The company hired the best 
architects in Palm Beach to design a series of “spec” houses on Pendleton 
Avenue and Pendleton Lane.  Nearly half of the original structures were 
designed by John L. Volk, but Maurice Fatio, Howard Major, Gustav Maass, 
Marion Syms Wyeth, Howard Chilton and Belford Shumate all had part in 
designing houses on the street.  The Arnold Construction Company built and 
financed other speculation houses throughout Palm Beach such as 215 El 
Bravo Way and continued to build houses and commercial buildings in 
Florida and surrounding states into the 1970s when the company became a 
division of McCloskey and Company.  
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VI. Statement of Significance 
 
The residence at 300 Clarke Avenue is a very good example of a 
Mediterranean Revival style residence constructed during the late 
Depression/New Deal Era in Palm Beach.  The restrained design by the 
prominent architect John Volk is also representative of the architectural, 
cultural and social changes occurring in Palm Beach during the mid 1930s.  
 
VII. Criteria For Designation  
 
Section 54-161 of the Town of Palm Beach Landmarks Preservation 
Ordinance outlines the criteria for designation of a landmark or landmark 
site and suggests that at least one criterion must be met to justify the 
designation.  Listed below are the criteria which relate to this property and 
justification for designation: 
 
(1) “Exemplifies or reflects the broad cultural, political, economic or 
social history of the nation, state, county or town.” 
 

300 Clarke Avenue reflects the broad cultural, economic and social 
history of the Town of Palm Beach.   Built	
  in	
  1936,	
  during	
  the	
  late	
  
Depression/New	
   Deal	
   Era	
   for	
   Robert	
   and	
   Thelma	
   Butt,	
   the	
  
residence	
   is	
   a	
   very	
   good	
   example	
   of	
   the	
   changing	
   times	
   in	
   the	
  
Town.	
  	
  The	
  end	
  of	
  the	
  Boom	
  Time	
  Era	
  in	
  Palm	
  Beach	
  had	
  signaled	
  
a	
   change	
   in	
   development	
   and	
   construction	
   of	
   residences	
   with	
  
many	
   owners	
   seeking	
   mid-­‐size	
   residences	
   with	
   restrained	
  
designs.	
   	
    While designing the house in the Mediterranean Revival 
style popularized during the Boom Times of the 1920s, John Volk 
kept the design for 300 Clarke understated and in keeping with the 
architectural preferences of the 1930s. 

 
(3) “Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural type or 
is a specimen inherently valuable for the study of a period, style, method 
of construction or use of indigenous materials or craftsmanship.” 

 
The residence located at 300 Clarke Avenue, designed and 
constructed in 1936, is a very good example of the Mediterranean 
Revival style of architecture popularized in Palm Beach during the 
Land Boom of the 1920s and still recognized as the “Palm Beach 
Style.”  The residence embodies distinctive Mediterranean Revival 
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characteristics including asymmetrical massing, tile covered roofs, 
distinctive entrances, arches, columns, decorative metal work, and 
stucco façades.  Despite changes over time, 300 Clarke Avenue has 
retained its architectural integrity. 
 

(4) “Is representative of the notable work of a master builder, designer 
or architect whose individual ability has been recognized or who 
influenced his age.” 
 

300 Clarke Avenue is a very good representation of the design 
work of the architect John L. Volk.  John Volk has always been 
recognized as one of the most important architects to practice in 
the Town of Palm Beach.  Unlike other talented architects who 
developed or refined specific styles, John Volk understood and 
perfected many varying architectural styles from Mediterranean 
Revival to contemporary designs.  

 



	
   12	
  

VIII. Selected Bibliography 
 
Curl, Donald W.  Mizner’s Florida:  American Resort Architecture.  
Cambridge, Massachusetts: The MIT Press, 1987. 
 
______.  Palm Beach County:  An Illustrated History.  Northridge, 
California:  Windsor Publications, Inc., 1987. 
 
The Historical Society of Palm Beach County. Clarke and Butt files. 
 
Marconi, Richard A. and Murray, Debi.  Images of America: Palm 
Beach.  Charleston, South Carolina: Arcadia Publishing, 2009. 
 
McAlester, Virginia Savage.  A Field Guide to American Houses: The 
Definitive Guide to Identifying and Understanding America’s Domestic 
Architecture.  New York: Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 2015. 
 
The Palm Beach Daily News. Archived articles online and articles from 
the files of the Historical Society of Palm Beach County and the 
Preservation Foundation of Palm Beach. 
 
The Palm Beach Post. Archived articles online and articles from the 
files of the Historical Society of Palm Beach County and the 
Preservation Foundation of Palm Beach. 
 
Preservation Foundation of Palm Beach.  300 Clarke Avenue file. 
 
Sanborn Insurance Map of Palm Beach.  New York: Sanborn Map Co., 
1919 and 1926.  City of West Palm Beach Public Library, Florida 
Room. 
 
Town of Palm Beach.  Building Permits, 1936– 2020. 
 
West Palm Beach City Directories.  Asheville, NC: Florida-Piedmont 
Directory Company, 1936-1989.  



	
   13	
  

IX. Florida Master Site File Form 
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